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the original presidio wall. This location now would be
close to the intersection of Alameda Street and Church
Avenue, north of the iconic tile-domed 1928 Pima County
Courthouse.

From Barber’s engraving one may surmise that the
chapel had fallen into disrepair or that the interior space
was very limited or reduced structurally. Hilario Gallego,
in his oral history transcript “Reminiscences of a Tucson
Pioneer” (1926), on file at the Arizona Historical Soci-
ety, reported that he was born within the walled city of
Tucson on January 14, 1850. He added that “inside the
east entrance . . . was an old ruined church. In the very
early times, there was a cemetery inside the wall near the
church.” Vicar Apostolic Salpointe also assessed that the
old presidio chapel “was in such a condition that it could
be neither used nor repaired” (Faulk 1966:58).

Discussions with Fred McAninch, retired Arizona
Historical Society curator (1988-2000), yielded a wealth

of Tucson church history. McAninch recalled that he and
Tucson author Patricia Preciado Martin were guest cura-
tors of the “St. Augustine Cathedral: Its Treasures and
Traditions” exhibit. After the exhibit concluded, Preciado
Martin, Jim Martin, and McAninch worked on install-
ing the Guadalupe bell in the Cathedral vestibule with a
plaque providing a brief history of the bell.

McAninch then laid out the apparent journey of
the Guadalupe bell that likely began after the presidio
chapel fell into disrepair. The bell was probably housed
briefly in the converted two-room residence donated by
Francisco Solano Leén, which became known as the Leon
Chapel. The residence was presented to Father Joseph
P. Machebeuf, Vicar General of the Diocese of Santa Fe,
who visited Tucson in late 1858 and early 1859 (Faulk
1966:58-61 n.9).

Later the bell was moved to the first cathedral built
in the Plaza de la Mesilla. This original cathedral was

The interpretive folder given to visitors at Tucson’s Presidio San Agustin Heritage Park includes an illustration drawing of
the Guadalupe bell, drawn by John W. Barber ca. June 1860. (Photo by Raul Ramirez.)



2013-2015

New & Events ¢ 43

started by Father Donato Rogieri, from Las Cruces, in
1863 and its roof was completed by Vicar Apostolic
Salpointe toward the end of 1868 (Faulk 1966:82, 104; Ro-
settie 1964:26-27). An early photo, from the 1870s, shows
scaffolding on the cathedral roof with a bell that is very
likely the Guadalupe bell. Two bell towers were added in
1881 after the cathedral’s exterior walls were reinforced
with buttresses, and before Salpointe was appointed
Archbishop of Santa Fe (1885) he oversaw the installa-
tion of the cut-stone Rose Window and portal in 1883
(Chambers and Sonnichsen 1974:17; Faulk 1966:132; Van
Slyck 1998:132). The Guadalupe bell may have continued
to be used as a secondary bell after the St. Louis Missouri
bell, cast in 1885, was placed in service (the St. Louis bell
is now found in the south tower belfry of the current ca-
thedral). The cathedral faced west onto the old plaza and
was close to the intersection of Broadway and Church
where the Pancho Villa statue is located today. The old
San Agustin Cathedral portal now graces the entrance to
the Arizona Historical Museum on East Second Street.

When Bishop Peter Bourgade arrived in Tucson in
1885, he was greeted at the train depot by a delegation
of Tohono O’odham horsemen who escorted him to the
cathedral. This must have given Bishop Bourgade a sense
of happiness to know that the people of San Xavier and
Tucsonans valued his arrival. As Bourgade ministered to
the newly created Diocese of Tucson, he quickly assessed
a need for a new cathedral: the community had grown,
and saloons and gambling establishment were encroach-
ing onto the Plaza de la Mesilla, which was now called
the Church Plaza. Bourgade found a parcel of land on
South Stone Avenue and Ochoa Street, next to the prop-
erty that Salpointe had purchased years earlier when he
acquired the site and buildings that had been used by
the territorial legislature while Tucson was the territorial
capital (1868-1878). Bourgade purchased the corrals that
belonged to the firm of Tully and Ochoa, the location of
which is now the site of the present cathedral. He laid
the cathedral’s cornerstone in 1896 and completed the
structure in 1897 (Nordmeyer 1978:48-52).

In concluding his narration, McAninch related that
the Guadalupe bell was moved to the new St. Augustine
Cathedral and has remained there to the present. Ruth
Jacome, the lead docent at the cathedral, concurs on the
bell’s historical journey and calls it the “traveling bell”
because it was at the Presidio Chapel, the Leén Chapel,
the San Agustin Cathedral, and now at St. Augustine
Cathedral.

McAninch reported that he thinks Bishop Salpointe
presented one of the smaller presidio bells to Mission
San Xavier and the other to the Sisters of Saint Joseph of
Carondelet. The staff at St. Pius X Church confirmed that
Salpointe gave a historic bell to the Sisters and that when
St. Joseph Academy closed in 1969, the Sisters donated
the bell to the parish.’ The bell lettering, though difficult
to read, is dedicated to San Agustin with a probable date

of 1804. It can be viewed in an especially designed alcove
as one enters the church.

Dr. Bernard Fontana, historian and authority on the
San Xavier Mission, reports that there exists a bell in the
espadaria of the San Xavier Mortuary Chapel with an in-
scription “San Agustin” dated in the 1700s, last two digits
being illegible. According to Fontana (2013), the late Fr.
Kieran McCarty “lent [the bell] to the historical society
for a St. Augustine celebration one year and it was rung
in public— probably for the first time in nearly a centu-
ry.” This bell may be the third presidio bell, since it is not
enumerated in any Spanish- or Mexican-era inventory of
San Xavier Mission.

In retrospect, the 1807 Guadalupe bell has been a
witness to all the major events that have defined Tucson
and the Catholic Diocese. The bell has been safeguarded
through several major building projects and renovations
of the old and new cathedrals by Bishops Salpointe,
Bourgade, Granjon, Gercke, Green, Moreno, and Kica-
nas. It has been absent from the cathedral for periods of
time while on display at the Arizona Historical Society (2
years) and at the Diocesan Archives (1 year).

Since 2014, Los Descendientes have been working
with the Diocese of Tucson to find a suitable location to
house the 1807 Presidio Bell dedicated to the Virgen de
Guadalupe. It is currently in storage at St. Augustine
Cathedral, with plans underway to showcase this iconic
church relic within the cathedral’s nave. Artist Brian
Donahue, who created the statue of Hugo O’Conor (1998)
at the Manning House, has been commissioned to design
a bell carriage that will be placed in the north transept on
the opposite side of where the Virgen de Guadalupe altar
(northwest side) is located.

On Saturday, August 27, 2016, at 5:30 pm, Bishop
Gerald F. Kicanas will be principal celebrant of the Mass
in honor of San Agustin, Tucson’s Patron Saint, at the
cathedral located at 192 South Stone Avenue. A bulto
(image) of San Agustin will be carried by Los Soldados
and La Gente de Presidio and followed in procession by
Las Dofias, Los Descendientes and parish organizations.
As part of this ceremony, Bishop Kicanas will perform
a special blessing of this old presidio bell, followed by a
ritual ringing of the bell by Las Dofias de Los Descendi-
entes del Presidio de Tucson and parish ministries. The
Tucson community is invited to join in this memorable
celebration.

Notes

A comparison of James Bell’s transliteration of the Guadalupe
bell’s inscription to the actual lettering on the bell reveals several
differences. He wrote “Vuestra “for “Nvestra,” not recognizing
that during the Spanish colonial period a “v” was often inter-
changed for a “u.” He spelled “Gvadalvpe” as “Guadaloupe”
and left out the “de” after afio. He was also consistent in not

"=

using the “fi” in Sefiora and Afio. One explanation is that James
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Bell was mistaken in his memory of the lettering on the bell,
having likely made the entry in his diary when he returned to
camp that evening or the next morning. He remembered that the
“V” was evident in “Nvestra “and wrote it as “Vuestra.” Bell’s
fluency in Spanish is unknown, but these may have been factors
to consider in explaining the differences.

A second possibility is that when James Bell read the
lettering, the “N” was obscured by oxidation or some organic
material and it appeared as a “V”; consequently, he wrote
“Vuestra” in his diary. A reference photo of the Guadalupe bell
in the book Images of America: Tucson Arizona (Eppinga 2000:12)
clearly shows the “Nvestra” inscription on the bell. The photo
was taken during the time that the Guadalupe bell was exhibited
at the Arizona Historical Society for the display of “St. Augus-
tine Cathedral: It Treasurers and Traditions.” For the lettering to
be evident as “Nvestra” sometime into the present the bell must
have been cleaned and the reading of “Nvestra” then became
apparent.

?Chambers and Sonnichsen (1974) state that Barber’s etching

is problematic, as some historians assert that the San Agustin
chapel had fallen into ruin and was not in use in 1860. They
imply that the celebration was taking place at the Leén chapel.
However, Barber’s description of the location and placement of
the three bells corresponds to the descriptions by Bell in 1854
and Heintzelman in 1858, suggesting that the San Antonio cel-
ebration did in fact take place at the old Presidio Chapel. Stoner
(1938) stated that shortly after the Presidio chapel was dedicated
another small church, Nuestra Sefiora de Guadalupe, was built
but he offered no further information.

A handout on the St. Pius X Bell states that their bell is believed
to be one of the three that originally hung at the Presidio Chapel.
When the priests left the presidio around 1855, the bells were
transferred to San Xavier Mission for safekeeping. Those bells
remained at the Mission until 1877, when they were presented
to Bishop Salpointe and returned to Tucson. In 1988 the Arizona
Historical Society borrowed the St. Pius X Bell for a display of
early Tucson history.
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